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DAY 8 – 13 MARCH 2015 
 

  [9.40 am] 

 

SJH: Yes, thank you, good morning.  Sorry, we had a bit of a hiccup, we had 5 

a cross-examination down which is not, apparently. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, I think the only cross-examination this morning is 

of Mr Anderson who is the Council’s final witness in terms of 

evidence-in-chief. Is it Convenient to call him now? 10 

 

SJH: Yes, by all means, because apparently there is no cross-examination so 

whether it has been withdrawn or – so it will just be a summary of 

evidence and questions from the Panel, Mr Winchester. 

 15 

 There are a number of other withdrawals this morning so we are going 

to be in and out a little bit, but as frequently happens as you will be 

aware with lay submitters. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   That is no problem from our perspective, sir, and it may 20 

be given that there is no further cross-examination witness, there is no 

need for both me and Mr Pizzey to be, so one of us may depart at some 

stage with your leave. 

 

 I am happy to now call Mr Anderson. 25 

 

<CLIVE KENNETH ANDERSON, sworn [9.41 am] 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [9.42 am] 

 30 

MR WINCHESTER:   Your full name is Clive Kenneth Anderson? 

 

MR ANDERSON:   That is correct. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And can you confirm please your qualifications and 35 

experience are set out in your statement of evidence? 

 

MR ANDERSON:   I do. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And you prepared for this Natural Hazards Hearing, a 40 

statement of evidence dated 13 February 2015? 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Do you have any changes or amendments to that 45 

statement? 
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MR ANDERSON:   No, I do not. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, would you please confirm to the best of 

your knowledge and belief, it is true and correct? 5 

 

MR ANDERSON:   I do. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Can you give the Panel a short summary of 

your evidence and then remain to answer any questions? 10 

 

MR ANDERSON:   I have been engaged by the Council to give evidence in 

relation to submission 915 pertaining to the inclusion of reclaimed land 

at Lyttelton Port within a liquefaction assessment area  - LAA1. 

 15 

 My involvement in the project to date has been (a) to examine 

submission 915 relating to the inclusion of reclaimed land at Lyttelton 

Port within LAA1. 

 

 (b)  The attendance at the pre-hearing caucusing and participation with 20 

other expert witnesses and discussions on matters pertaining to 

liquefaction in the Proposed Plan.  

 

 This resulted in me agreeing to the Joint Statement of the liquefaction 

sub panel dated 13 January 2015. 25 

 

 (c)  A visit to the Lyttelton Port to view earthquake damage after the 

earthquakes on 23 February 2012.  I have now revisited the Port for the 

purposes of preparing this evidence.  

 30 

 Scope.  The specific part of the Proposal in my evidence relates to the 

identification of reclaimed land at Lyttelton Port as being with the 

LAA1 overlay.  This evidence is provided in light of specific relief 

sought by the Lyttelton Port Company in its submission 915, in 

particular annexure 2 of the submission and the submission on rules 35 

5.9.1 and 5.9.2, seeking to alter its status and to remove the LAA1 

overlay. 

 

 Given Summary.  The reclaimed land at Lyttelton Port is within the 

LAAl overlay in the Proposed Revised District Plan.  The Port 40 

Company seeks in its submission that activities on the land be given a 

controlled rather than restricted discretionary activity status and that the 

mapping of that land as being within LAA1 be removed. 
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 Reclaimed land in Lyttelton Port experienced significant earthquake 

induced movement in the recent Canterbury earthquake sequence as 

reported by LPC, and the two references are cited there. 

 

 Even though the cause of land movement may not have met the 5 

geotechnical definition of liquefaction, the movement was induced by 

strong earthquake shaking and it will take a number of years to fully 

repair as stated by the Port Company. 

 

 The experience of the reclaimed land movement and the associated 10 

damage to the Port is consistent with earthquake related performance 

reclaimed land internationally.  Such land is often left in a loose un-

compacted state by the reclamation process which leaves it vulnerable 

not only to dynamic earthquake loads, but to static load loading from 

heavy structures. 15 

 

 Further, the Port is a vital component to the South Island’s economy 

and would be critical in the post-earthquake recovery in future major 

earthquakes. 

 20 

  [9.45 am] 

 

 The experts of the technical caucusing agreed on the matters mentioned 

below. 

 25 

 The relevance to this statement of evidence to the Lyttelton Port 

reclaimed land is addressed at G of the caucusing report recording that 

the experts agreed that, considering the following facts: 

 

 Severe lateral and vertical movement was observed at the reclaimed 30 

land at the Port. 

 

 The Port is a vital lifeline for post-earthquake and business recovery, it 

was agreed that it was appropriated that the RDP has included the 

reclaimed land at Lyttelton Port within the defined LAA area.  35 

Consequently in my view it is appropriate for the PRDP to provide for 

the hazard management of reclaimed land at Lyttelton Port by 

identifying that it is potentially vulnerable to earthquake shaking and to 

manage activities that take place on it. 

 40 

 Given this position, in my opinion, the LAA1 overlay is appropriate 

and it should be retained. 

 

 And I am happy to - I have read the transcripts pertaining to 

Mr Kingsbury and Mr Jacka and I am happy to take questions on that if 45 

you wish. 
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SJH: Thank you, Dr Mitchell. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Good morning, Mr Anderson.  I have just got a few 

questions for you. 5 

 

 I understand the point about the LAA1 classification, I get that, I also 

get the point that the Port is likely important to the welfare of 

Canterbury and so forth.  And I also agree that that land needs to be 

managed to ensure that those assets can continue to function. 10 

 

 But why does the Council need to be able to control activities on the 

land to the point that they decline consent for particular activities which 

would be the effect of a restricted discretionary activity as opposed to a 

controlled activity. 15 

 

 And the point of asking the question, is given the value of those assets 

and the importance of the Port, is it not in their interests to do exactly 

what you would expect them to do, eg, manage those assets properly, 

and why does the Council need to stick its finger in that? 20 

 

MR ANDERSON:   I think my answer is very, very succinct in the sense that 

having been involved in doing a lot of reviews of building consent 

applications for City Council over the last 18 months, and having been 

involved with, you know, examining liquefaction issues since, probably 25 

I guess, with Commissioner Dawson, right back to the Pegasus days. 

 

 Quality is not an automatic outcome for any client, it does not matter 

how big they are and it does not matter which consultants it involves.  I 

have seen some real gaffes made, you know, via the consenting 30 

process, so I am not a planning expert, so exactly what the structure 

should be in terms of, if you say, controlling the activity, I will leave 

that to the planners to best decide about that. 

 

 But as a geotechnical engineer and having, you know, in my experience 35 

as I say, seen a lot of gaffes made around the issue of liquefaction, I 

think there needs to be some form of control or review whereby 

Council can at least, when things are coming through for building 

consent, can at least have some input to the process, not just assume 

that owners will automatically get it right. 40 

 

DR MITCHELL:   So if you had to apply for a consent, you would want the 

Council to be in a position to say, ‘I agree that the foundations that are 

proposed are appropriate’ or ‘You need to modify the foundations in 

the following way’ as opposed to being able to say, ‘No, you cannot 45 
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use the Port land for Port purposes because of the liquefaction 

problem’? 

 

MR ANDERSON:   No, it was never my intention and I thought I made it clear 

in the response.  It was never my intention to say, ‘Hey, no, you cannot 5 

possibly develop here’, that is seldom the case.   

 

 You know, having worked on projects like the Clyde Dam years ago, 

man can do whatever it likes if it is willing to throw enough money at.  

There are technical solutions, it really just comes down to economics 10 

and often whether people weighing off the risk of something bad 

happening against the costs of doing something about that. 

 

 So I am not looking to say, ‘hey, you cannot possibly develop here’, 

just making sure that the development is done appropriately. 15 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you, I understand that.  And the second 

question, there is nothing in relation to the specifics of liquefaction, but 

in your summary you say that you are an accredited person on the City 

Council’s register for rock fall protection measures - - - 20 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   We had quite a conversation during this Hearing about the 

possible certification conditions on matters geotechnical. 25 

 

 Can you just explain to me what an accredited person is in terms of 

what you have said in your paragraph 1.6, how you get appointed, what 

your role is, those sorts of things please? 

 30 

  [9.50 am] 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Okay, the process that was gone through I think from, I 

guess, is probably 18 months ago now is, you know, demonstrating by 

your CV experience that you have got the appropriate level of, as I say, 35 

experience of rock fall.  And in my case I do have, it is one of my 

things that I could often be working on at, say, Stockton Mine, the 

Ridgeline Project, with hard rock in the morning and liquefaction 

problems in the afternoon, you know, geotechnically very diverse 

projects.  I have done a lot of work - - - 40 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Well, I am not doubting your expertise, I am just wondering 

what are the (INDISTINCT 0.41) - - - 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Yes, okay, so - - - 45 
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DR MITCHELL:   - - - person is and what they do? 

 

MR ANDERSON:   It is a process of, you know, demonstrating, as I say, by 

your CV that you have got the appropriate experience. 

 5 

DR MITCHELL:   But what do you do, what is it you are accrediting or what is 

it you are approving or certifying? 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Well, if projects come through they need sign off or 

review and my company is doing a number of those, so rock fall 10 

projects on the hills, you know, retention works.  We have the 

opportunity to review those on behalf of Councils. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   So you either give them a tick or say, “They are deficient in 

the following way, you need to add a condition requiring A, B , C or X, 15 

Y, Z”? 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Or “You need to rewrite the report in some cases”. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Or there is a standard to be achieved, and if - - - 20 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Yes, the standard - - - 

 

DR MITCHELL:   - - - they satisfied it has been met. 

 25 

SJH:   Just wait until the question is finished please, Mr Anderson. 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Sorry. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   So in certain circumstances someone will say you have got 30 

to design to a particular standard and they do their calculations and you 

say, “Well, I agree that that standard has been met”, that sort of thing? 

 

MR ANDERSON:   That sort of thing, yes, a review role.  

 35 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you.  Thank you, Mr Anderson.  No more 

questions, sr. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   Good morning, Mr Anderson. 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Good morning. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Just one question, you have indicated that it is not sort of 45 

liquefaction exactly that is the potential problem with the reclaimed 
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land at the Port, I mean it is akin to liquefaction but there is a range of 

geotechnical issues that the land at the Port could potentially suffer.   

Do you think that needs to be made clearer?  The Plan tends to just talk 

about liquefaction as a bundle and is it clear enough or should it be 

clear that there are actually a range of geotechnical potential issues? 5 

 

MR ANDERSON:   I guess it depends on how closely you want to subdivide 

the definition of the hazard.  It has been called liquefaction, you know, 

in the Plan as part of the overlay and I accept that that is probably a 

good broad definition to flag to people that there are earthquake related 10 

issues associated with land.   

 

 I guess the point I was making that while the Port might strictly say, 

“We did not have liquefaction per se”, that to me is drawing a very fine 

line and saying, “Well, you did have earthquake related land 15 

deformation, you had another type of problem akin to liquefaction”.  

Even if the exact technical performance of the land would not meet the 

definition of liquefaction it is more maybe akin to things like cyclic 

mobility which is an associated phenomenon with liquefaction. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   Could similar issues arise with other land in the city, I mean 

there is other land within the city that might not technically have 

liquefaction but could have a range of other geotechnical issues related 

to earthquake shaking? 

 25 

MR ANDERSON:   Yes, there are, there can be just plain settlement of fills, 

for instance, you know, I know one where it certainly did not liquefy 

but the reclaimed land certainty settled as a result of being shaken. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you very much.  That is all from me, thank 30 

you. 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No, sir. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Chairman, just a couple of questions.  

Mr Anderson, I am interested, you mentioned that you were involved in 

the Clyde Dam.  Were you involved in the landslide issue to do with 

the highway? 40 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Yes, I was.  I was one of the so called landslide engineers, 

I was involved with the Jackson’s Creek slide, the investigation and 

remediation works on that and I was also involved assisting the 

landslide engineer on the No 5 Creek landslide.  So I spent about three 45 

years of my life working on that project. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   You mentioned the capacity for – do not get me wrong in 

this – but you mentioned capacity in regard for engineers to make 

mistakes and errors and in the case of the landslide, that was a case, 

wasn’t it, of some errors being made in the process of design and 5 

implementation and then a significant process of remediation which 

had to be applied to the slope after the event? 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Yes, it was not my intention to, you know, raise it. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, I know that. 

 

MR ANDERSON:   But look you are quite right, you know, as I understand the 

process, and it obviously had started before my involvement, but the 

project was conceived and well underway before they identified the 15 

significance of the landslide hazards around the reservoir.  And by the 

time they had done sufficient investigations and there was one 

particular drill hole, SED17, which identified the existence of very high 

artesian pressures below these landslides in a climate that was taken to 

be generally one of the driest in New Zealand. 20 

 

  [9.55 am] 

 

 The project was well underway and the government was more or less 

committed and despite the inquiry that was done they had little choice 25 

but to keep going because the money was sunk already. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and it was a very substantive piece of work but 

obviously in the end a successful stabilisation occurred, didn’t it? 

 30 

MR ANDERSON:   Certainly successful stabilisation, yes, and that is my 

point.  If one spends enough money - we know how to solve these 

problems, technically it is not “is there a solution”, there are, it is just a 

question of is it financially smart, if you like, to be doing that. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And I wondered whether that might illustrate the issue a 

little bit with regard to the Port in the sense that in that equation there 

was clearly a highly motivated owner of the problem, ie the 

government, and the roading agency as well I suppose.  No consenting 

process but nevertheless an outcome which, because of that equation 40 

necessitated a sound solution in engineering terms, do you think that is 

a fair comment? 

 

MR ANDERSON:   I think it is a fair comment if you have got, you know, 

good people involved who understand what they need to do with the 45 

right imperatives, yes, you will get the right outcome.  You could take 
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an example, you could plonk a good geotechnical engineer on any 

place in the world and expect him to work out what the hazards are and 

maybe come up with appropriate solutions for whatever the 

development is.  But that is not necessarily the case for all people and I 

think one of the benefits of having are at least identifying these things. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay, do not go too far with that because I just want 

to actually come back to the Port.  And in regard to the Port though 

isn’t it a similar equation in the sense that there is clearly an incentive 

on the Port to ensure it maintains its operations going forwards? 10 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Yes, absolutely. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Have to own the problem in the same way as the 

government had to own the problem, and the roading agency had to 15 

own the problem, in regard to the Clyde Dam land stabilisation 

problem? 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Yes, I would agree with that. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And just in coming back to your paragraph 5.5, you have 

made it clear that your evidence is not about the planning consenting 

track, that is a matter for the planners, but you make the important 

point there about site specific investigation.   

 25 

 So that can be through a mechanism of peer review, do you think, 

involving independent judgement, is that an aspect you would say is 

important given, for instance, the background of the Clyde Dam and 

perhaps a lack of independent peer review? 

 30 

MR ANDERSON:   You are saying site investigation would be through a 

process of peer review?  I am not quite sure what you mean.  Site 

investigation would normally be done as an initial activity and then 

peer review would come after the site investigations have been reported 

on. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I do not want to belabour the point but I wonder, you 

are not trying to give evidence on the consenting track and you have 

made that clear, but if one was to assume a consenting track that 

required the applicant to undertake proper peer review assessment that 40 

is done independently, I guess my question is do you think that that is a 

relatively important or a very important part of the mix to ensure sound 

outcomes? 

 

MR ANDERSON:   I think on large scale works at the Port, and I am not 45 

talking about, you know, just putting up a simple shed, but if they were 
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doing large scale works.  Like they have currently got an EOI out at the 

moment for a new wharf, 700 metres long   I would expect that part of 

that process would be probably having, you know, good peer review of 

what the primary consultant is coming up with just to, you know, just 

get the significance of the capital investment. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Anderson. 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 

 10 

MS HURIA:   I do have a couple of questions I am sorry, Mr Anderson.  Just 

with regard to paragraph 5.6, you have stated there that the Port 

Company said that liquefaction is not a significant risk in this area.  

Just in terms of clarification, you are saying it is, but it might not be on 

a standard definition of liquefaction, does it come down to definition? 15 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Let me just refer to my, yes, the main evidence. 

 

MS HURIA:   Page 9. 

 20 

MR ANDERSON:   Yes, as I said earlier, liquefaction has a particular 

definition geotechnically in terms of pore pressure response in the soils.  

So while the nature of the soils, they might not have had the classical 

development of pore water pressures such as we would get in loose 

sands in Christchurch here in the alluvial soils, and so if you are 25 

drawing that very fine line as to whether they had liquefaction or not, 

they may be strictly correct.  My point is that they had other earthquake 

related effects akin to what we would expect, you know, liquefied land 

to go through.   

 30 

  [10.00 am] 

 

 In other words, you know, extreme deformation which led to a lot of 

damage to the paving and to the walls and obviously quite a significant 

repair bill, that was just the point I was making. 35 

 

MS HURIA:   Should the definition be expanded? 

 

MR ANDERSON:  I think I touched on that earlier in terms of the overlays, I 

am happy that if for planning purposes that the land is identified as 40 

being earthquake vulnerable, if you like, with strong shaking that it 

would tend to move, whether it is by the strict definition of liquefaction 

or something, I don’t have a particular view as to what it is called, it is 

just really making sure that people are aware of that. 

 45 

MS HURIA:   Thank you.  Thank you, sir. 
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SJH:   Completely off this Replacement Plan, Mr Anderson, I can assure you as 

a useful opponent of the Clyde dam that long before the decision was 

made to proceed, there was a lot of geological evidence given to the 

government departments, the then-Prime Minister and others of what 5 

was going to occur and it did occur. 

 

MR ANDERSON:  Yes, were you involved as part of that? 

 

SJH:   We were just part of the protest group to be honest but we had a number 10 

of geologists who predicted what would happen and they were given 

that information. 

 

MR ANDERSON:   And I think that is in part my point, is making sure that the 

lessons of the recent past, while they were flagged until the event had 15 

happened nobody really took any notice, and I could reel off, and I see 

Commissioner Dawson laughing, but we did work together on other 

projects, Pegasus, and worked on a number of others and some of those 

projects do not exist today, they have been replaced by others because 

nobody took account of the warnings of liquefaction.  So it is really just 20 

capturing that memory in some form, whatever planning was put there 

and just making sure it is not lost when people come to look at new 

developments.   

 

SJH:   It is a good warning.  Thank you, Mr Winchester, anything arising from 25 

the questions? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  No, sir, I was just thinking possibly you may want to 

give some evidence about your protest days, I am certainly interested in 

that. 30 

 

SJH:   That and clearing waterways, Mr Winchester, both of which I had some 

personal experience of. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   But, no, there is nothing arising, sir. 35 

 

SJH:   Thank you, thank you, Mr Anderson. 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Thank you. 

 40 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.02 am] 

 

SJH:   Mr Craig, if you would like to come forward to one of the microphones.  

Did you wish to make a statement in support of your submission to us? 

45 
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<MR CRAIG [10.02 am] 

 

MR CRAIG:   That is correct. 

 

SJH:   So just when you are ready to proceed. 5 

 

MR CRAIG:   Am I to assume that my statement has been read, taken as read? 

 

SJH:   You can read your submission but the statement has been handed to us 

which is presumably what you are going to present today.   10 

 

MR CRAIG:  Yes, that is my submission that I have submitted. 

 

SJH:   Your submission has been read. 

 15 

MR CRAIG:  Oh, it has been, so there is probably not much more to add to it 

unless any questions come out of it. 

 

SJH:   It would be helpful if you took us through this statement. 

 20 

MR CRAIG:  Yes, well that is the same as my written submission, so I can take 

you through that. It relates to specifically the assessment matters in 

chapter 5, and in particular those that relate to or concern - earthworks.  

And there is one assessment matter there that I would like to seek and 

have amended, and parts of in fact removed.  You will see there where 25 

I have crossed out those sections that I want to have removed - they 

relate to consideration of ecosystems, natural character, and adverse 

landscape visual effects.    

 

 The reasons that I want those to be removed are two-fold.  One is that I 30 

do not believe they relate directly to the matter of this being managed, 

which is the land instability. And secondly, they are not consistent with 

matters elsewhere in the living hills zone.  I go on to point out that 

there are in fact, as far as I know, there are no earthworks 

considerations for the living hill zones outside of the classification of 35 

land instability areas.  So I accept the remaining discretionary matters 

because they are essentially technical matters and in those land 

instability areas the Council certainly needs to be confident that the 

design of foundations and houses is appropriate to those areas. 

 40 

 So I accept those.  I do question whether it should be considered as part 

of a discretionary activity status.  My understanding is that the land is 

able to be built on. It was formerly green zoned as now that attracts that 

classification one, two, and three. Under the discretionary activity 

status there is the prospect whether it stands for it or not, I do not know, 45 

that firstly the Council declined consent - so my concern is that a 
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building could be declined where more, perhaps, appropriately should 

really just relate to foundation design.  Secondly, it possibly opens the 

doorway for notification, and given that, I think there is a right to build, 

my understanding anyway is that it is essentially a permitted activity,  

and I think it is appropriate to have those matters as part of the 5 

discretionary activity status.   

 

 In my submission I suggest it more properly that it should be a 

controlled activity status, so where there is no prospect that to build per 

se is going to be declined, or it might be better placed as part of the 10 

building consent process. 

 

 The other, let’s say, more global concern that I have is that the values 

of our properties have decreased as a result of the classification, and as 

reflected in the RVs, and so there is, where you could live in those 15 

zones, have to bear a burden of that cost, in addition to the cost of 

going through a consent process such as this.   

 

 So my concern is that with that in mind it would be perhaps, more 

helpful to us if the Council were to facilitate the rebuild in those land 20 

classification areas and as I see it the discretionary matter that I seek to 

be deleted is in fact doing the opposite.  So that is basically all I want to 

say.   

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Those words have been the subject of questioning from the 25 

Panel of the experts as well so I will just see if any members of the 

Panel have any questions. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  No, thank you, sir, it was very succinct and very clear what 

you are seeking and why, thank you. 30 

 

MR CRAIG:   Thank you, very much. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Craig, just to be clear, you are in a mass 

movement area 2, that is the particular focus, though it is obviously the 

only focus for this, but otherwise you are in what has been a living hills 

zone and will presumably be some form of residential zone in the new 

plan going forward? 40 

 

MR CRAIG:   That is my understanding, I do not think the zoning is changing, 

it is just basically we have got this layer on top of the living hill zone. 

 

MS DAWSON:  And as you understand it, the layer might also go over other 45 

zones, not just be confined to the residential parts of the hills? 
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MR CRAIG:  Yes, I am not sure, because I know that in the rural Port Hills it 

is possible to construct a dwelling subject to the rules or the standards 

for the rural Port Hills. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:  So even in those zones there is a permitted baseline if you can 

call it that in a loose way for some building to occur on that, into the 

line (ph 4.50) zoning? 

 

MR CRAIG:   Yes, that is correct.  The only difference is I am not sure if any 10 

of the land instability areas actually lie within the rural Port Hills.  

There is also another, I am just trying to think what it is, it might be 

rural 12 down in Heathcote Valley. 
 

  [10.10 am] 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   In the Operative Plan. 

 

MR CRAIG:   Yes, that is correct. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   All right, but from your point of view, from your residential 

zoning you have got permitted rights to which certainly these 

assessment matters would not apply, and you are saying really the issue 

is more about how any rebuild or extension starts? 

 25 

MR CRAIG:   Yes, in my view the focus should be on the actual building 

design and the foundation design, and I appreciate that it has to be 

appropriate to the hazard that is being managed, and so I entirely accept 

that.  It is just where it is placed and I think that broadly it should be 

something that facilitates the rebuild in those areas rather than does the 30 

opposite. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you very much, thanks Mr Craig. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 35 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just one thing, thanks Mr Craig.  As the Chairman said we 

have received expert evidence on these same topics in your area.  In 40 

regard to the issue of landscape, which I know you will be particular 

familiar with, I am just thinking about section 32 of the Act and what 

the Panel has in front of it for the moment.  Have you any comments 

around what you would normally expect for a proper section 32 in 

order to determine where the landscape effects should be assessed? 45 
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MR CRAIG:   My understanding of section 32 as it relates, concerns the 

efficiency of achieving the provisions of the Plan, and ultimately the 

Act.  And what is underpinning my submission is that I think that is 

probably a more efficient way of doing it and I think to have those 

discretionary matters, or the discretionary activity status changed to say 5 

controlled activity status, or perhaps removed altogether and placed in 

the building consent process would be a more efficient way of 

achieving, not only outcomes that seeks, but also perhaps a better way 

of achieving the purposes of the Act. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, very much Mr Craig. 

 

MR CRAIG:   Thank you. 15 

 

<MR CRAIG WITHDREW [10.10 am] 

 

SJH:   I think the next submitter is available at 10.30 so we will stand down 

until 10.30 thank you. 20 

 

ADJOURNED [10.12 am] 
 

RESUMED [11.10 am] 

 25 

SJH: Thank you.  Now, Ms Malloch.  Just come towards the microphone.  

You want to make a statement to us on your submission? 

 

MS MALLOCH:   Yes please. 

 30 

SJH:   Yes, if you just stand. 

 

<RACHAEL MALLOCH [11.11 am] 

 

MS MALLOCH:   I have put in a submission because I was having problems 35 

with rebuilding issues in our neighbourhood.  Our house is a bit unique 

in that it has two flats in one house and it exists in L1 SAM Flood 

Management Zone, and with the restrictions that have been imposed - - 

- 

 40 

SJH: Sorry, what zone? 

 

MS MALLOCH:   SAM L1 and Flood Management Zone.  It is a bit unique in 

that there are not any other houses that have been put into two flats in 

this neighbourhood and it was put into two flats in 1976.   45 
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 Basically, what has happened with the earthquakes is that the services, 

sewer and water services, have broken down in the house to the point 

where the design of the house does not allow it to be rebuilt because of 

new compliance codes.   

 5 

 When I started to look at the issues involved in our neighbourhood, I 

started to object to the Flood Management Zone, mainly because, I 

could not change the design of the building. 

 

 So in speaking to the submission today, I would like to discuss the 10 

basis of my objection to the Flood Management Zone and the reason 

why is that modern rebuilds include greater use of sewer and water 

service infrastructure.  Many of the new houses being rebuilt in Flood 

Management Areas would have two bathrooms and two sewers, where 

only one existed prior. 15 

 

 If two sewer outlets existed on one property and the property requires 

rebuilding in the Flood Management Zone, the loss of one sewer would 

lessen the pressure on vacuum sewer systems but not create adequate 

housing conditions for residents.   Loss of service in one area, for 20 

example, by having to provide a vacuum sewer, could also create 

greater risk for life in a built environment dependant on the amount of 

occupants in the building. 

 

 You asked for some clarification on language and efficiency as is stated 25 

in objective 3.32 defining how slope hazard areas are different than 

areas affected by liquefaction and flooding in terms of life safety and 

life risk, and that is not fair to me, how the interpretation is being made. 

 

 So how can a proper interpretative relationship between objective 3.36 30 

and the policies in chapter 5, Natural Hazards, create important 

relationships for decision makers? 

 

 For me, in my view, of living in the Richmond area, in a 

neighbourhood that was established a hundred years ago through the 35 

Canterbury Provincial Chambers, our infrastructure and environment 

was not maintained to acceptable levels pre-earthquake in order for us 

to adequately maintain life safety. 

 

 I do not think that in objective 5.11, reduced risk to people, property, 40 

infrastructure and other aspects of the environment for natural hazards 

has been acceptable in the Richmond area. 

 

 I do not think the issue can be explored through defining how the effect 

of the earthquakes verse liquefaction and flooding allow any reduction 45 

in hazards in the district to acceptable or tolerable levels.  Rather, my 
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understanding of the level of disease, death and disabilities occurring 

because of risks resulting from peoples responses to the environment, 

shows a model with a blank box or a model with no acceptable 

framework for policy definition of risk. 

 5 

  [11.15 am] 

 

 I know there are scientists who are providing you with explicit details, 

but any scientific understanding of life risk cannot define the fullest 

risk possible to large populations of people where services and 10 

infrastructure and sewers are not maintained. 

 

 I agree with the planners expertise input to provide a document for 

Council which addresses life safety primarily.  The protective factors 

which affect the whole community, such as these services and safe 15 

water supply, were compromise by inadequate standards of 

maintenance in our neighbourhood prior to the earthquakes occurring 

and completely broke down during the earthquake period.  

 

 Any policies governing the RMA and the building issues, should be 20 

formally considered in response to adequate health and hygiene 

standards, and the ongoing maintenance of existing infrastructure rather 

than supplying new infrastructure to new neighbourhoods in 

subdivisions at the expense of old neighbourhoods. 

 25 

 Good outcomes for planning and design would then be achieved with 

life safety standards defined.  So examples of what happened in our 

neighbourhood affected by natural hazards which was approved a 

hundred years ago by the Canterbury Provincial Chambers, include 

spread of infection, low immunisation resistance to disease, medical 30 

issues, accidents and cost to life in the neighbourhood primarily due to 

sewer services breakdowns and pollution. 

 

 I have not noticed any plans or charts or graphs showing the amount of 

deaths or medical treatments the community received as a result of 35 

earthquake natural hazard stress, but believe this could provide the 

intolerable standards required by the Panel supporting the reasons for 

my submission to go ahead. 

 

 And last, can a permitted activity rule explore the extent for a technical 40 

assessment of an activity to be done as a condition of that activity?  The 

RMA defines conditions for plans and consents to include the term 

“Standards, restrictions and prohibitions.’ 

 

 Conditional standards cannot create qualitative standards in response to 45 

life risk and life safety in areas of flood management and liquefaction 
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hazards. There seems to be no clear conditions as to what determines 

who and when services will be supplied in areas affected by natural 

hazard conditions, especially if rebuilding does not go ahead as in my 

case currently. 

 5 

 If the areas are left to go or cease to exist by natural order of events, 

then there will be conflict in Council as a nil order would provide no 

clear conditions in response to existing built environment issues. 

 

 If these type of nil outcomes or nil order situations were to occur, 10 

existing residents could not be guaranteed an adequate standard of 

service, especially in regard to being supplied sewer and water services, 

life safety and health services. 

 

 So I raised some issues in my submission and I bring up some 15 

comparisons.  I have discussed places like Venice, where flood 

management is basically channels and when we have new flood 

management channels, I would believe that our existing sewer would 

work sufficiently to maintain my situation in a rebuild of a small unit or 

a redesign. 20 

 

 My sewer worked the whole period of time over the earthquakes but it 

broke down when we had the floods.  Basically I was lucky, I had two 

sewer services and we could move from one to the other, but in terms 

of finding out if it was economic or not, I do not believe it was.  People 25 

are offering me below value for my property, I will not accept the 

lower Council valuation to move out of the neighbourhood.  I think that 

that is an economic disadvantage for me. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 30 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No, I do not, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, just to confirm, on the map up here and it might 

be hard for you to see from there, but we have it in front of us, just to 

confirm that that is your property?    

 

MS MALLOCH:   34 Chrystal Street.  Yes, it is on a slight natural rise, the 40 

level of the land has stayed higher on one part of the section and the 

rain runs off it. 
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  [11.20 am] 

 

 If you go down the road, three doors down, the neighbours do get water 

flooding to under their floorboards but I was actually quite well off in 

terms of staying way above the flood line in every situation. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you very much. 

 

MS MALLOCH:   Okay. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you for identifying that. 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you. 15 

 

SJH:   Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, thank you, sir. 

 20 

SJH:   Thank you very much. 

 

MS MALLOCH:   Thank you. 

 

<RACHAEL MALLOCH WITHDREW [11.20 am] 25 

 

SJH:   Now, Mr Holyoake? 

 

<RICHARD HOLYOAKE [11.20 am] 

 30 

MR HOLYOAKE:   Good morning.  My name is Richard Holyoake, I 

represent the RJ Holyoake Family Trust which owns the property at 

105 Holliss Avenue, Cashmere and the submission number is 606. 

 

 My submission is specific to the Holliss Avenue property.  It is used 35 

primarily for residential purposes and is zoned living hills and is also 

within Rock Fall Hazard Management Zones 1 and 2 on the notified 

Plan.  The property is approximately 1.4 hectares in area. 

 

 My submission reflected my three concerns that the planning maps did 40 

not reflect the actual risk; that the planning maps were inconsistent and 

in some areas there was clearly a more significant risk, there was no 

rock fall management zoning shown at all; and that the Plan did not 

provide clarity on how provisions would apply on properties where the 

RHMA zones only covered part of the site. 45 
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 My submissions sought ground-truthing so that planning maps, and 

specifically map 46 in my case, more accurately represented the risk 

present on the property, ie removal of the RHMA zones on the north 

boundary of the property where there is no hazard source, and 

reduction or removal of the zones from the south of the property where 5 

hazard sources were undefined. 

 

 Subsequent to my submission 606 I met with Mark Yetton who was 

acting on behalf of the Council on site, and I also acknowledge and 

thank the Hearing’s Panel for taking the trouble to visit the site.   10 

 

 Mr Yetton has proposed amendments to the planning maps in his 

evidence of 13 February, appendix 17, plan 1 of his evidence, to better 

reflect his opinion of the risk in relation to the site.  These amendments 

include the removal of RHMA1 and RHMA2 from the north boundary 15 

of the site and reduction of RHMA1 extent on the south boundary. 

 

 I believe that the revised extent as marked on Mr Yetton’s plan is more 

representative of where there may be rock fall risk due to an existing 

rock outcrop on an adjacent uphill property.  I consider that 20 

Mr Yetton’s version satisfies the concerns raised in my submission in 

relation to the RHMA as it relates to the Holliss Avenue property. 

 

 Mr Yetton in his evidence also recommends amendment of the RHMA 

zones on adjacent properties to better reflect the likely hazard due to 25 

the rocks perched above.  This is an example of where ground-truthing 

has been required to better reflect hazards than as they were shown on 

the earlier plans. 

 

 While Mr Yetton’s version is a significant improvement on the notified 30 

map I remain concerned that this sort of inconsistency is present in 

other areas of the Port Hills creating an onerous and unnecessary need 

for consents for many landowners and hiding real risks for others. 

 

 There are two matters in my submission that have not been entirely 35 

resolved.  The first of which is the lack of clarity which exists around 

the effect of RHMA zoning on a small part of the property.  Nothing in 

the evidence or proposed rules that I have read - and I have not read it 

all I will admit – clarifies how the provisions of the plan 5.10.1 apply 

where only part of the property is subject to Rock Fall Hazard 40 

Management Area.   

 

 For instance, where the works occur on part of the property that is not 

within the RHMA does this still trigger the need for a consent?  I have 

assumed that only the provisions of 5.10.1A, that is the subdivision 45 
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part, apply to the whole lot and the remainder only apply to the RHMA 

zone.  Clarity is required. 

 

 The second residual issue I have is that I believe the Plan should have 

provision for amendment of zones based on ground-truthing by 5 

qualified people and actions such as the removal of hazards.   

 

 By way example, if loose or fractured rocks are removed, and those 

were the rocks that were deemed to create the current hazard, then it 

would seem reasonable that the zones downhill would change 10 

accordingly.  In many cases I would suggest the removal or treatment 

of these hazards would be a relatively straightforward exercise. 

 

 I understand the Panel may have heard some evidence in relation to this 

and I would certainly support any process than enabled changes being 15 

embedded in the replacement plan.  Thank you, I am happy to take any 

questions. 

 

  [11.25 am] 

 20 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Holyoake, that last point is something we have been 

exploring at some length with witnesses and trying to work our way 

through the restraints, if you like, of how we can go about doing it but I 

will just see if other Panel members have questions.  Dr Mitchell? 

 25 

DR MITCHELL:   No, thank you, sir, it was very clear. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, thank you.  Thank you, Mr Holyoake. 30 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 

 35 

SJH:   Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you very much for your submission and we are glad you have 40 

resolved a lot of the matters in part anyway. 

 

MR HOLYOAKE:   Thank you. 



 Page 876 

  

Ch5: Natural Hazards (Part) 13.03.15 

<RICHARD HOLYOAKE WITHDREW [11.25 am] 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Toothill? 

 

<MICHAEL TOOTHILL [11.25 am] 5 

 

MR TOOTHILL:   Good morning to the Panel.  My name is Michael Toothill, 

I am representing the Toothill Family Trust, owners of 34 Taupata 

Street.   

 10 

 The letter we received from the Christchurch City Council on 

25 August last year stated that 34 Taupata Street is located in a 

proposed Mass Movement Hazard Management Area 1.  As shown on 

the map in figure 45 in the earth debris flow risk assessment for 

Defender Lane, only a very small section of our land is in the area, we 15 

estimate approximately one and a half square metres. 

 

 The Council letter did not specifically state that where the area crosses 

our property that the mass movement standards only apply to that 

affected part of the property.  We are seeking confirmation that where 20 

the Mass Movement Hazard Management Area 1 crosses only part of 

34 Taupata Street that the mass movement standards only apply to the 

affected part of the property.  We also seek to confirm that this will be 

recorded in our LIM. 

 25 

SJH:   Thank you, just take a seat.  Mr Pizzey, can you confirm that it only 

applies to that small area that is involved? 

 

MR PIZZEY:   That is my understanding, sir, would you mind if I check with 

Ms Carter?  Thank you, sir. 30 

 

SJH:   It appears that Mr Wright has actually recommended removing it 

completely, were you not aware of that? 

 

MR TOOTHILL:   No. 35 

 

SJH:   Well, that appears to be the case, you can confirm that, Ms Carter? 

 

MS CARTER:   Yes, I can confirm that.  

 40 

SJH:   Yes, all right.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Pizzey, just in regards to Mr Holyoake’s submission I 

wonder if you could confirm what the intention is in regard to the rock 

fall hazard areas that in fact are the restrictions in the rules intended 45 
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only to apply within that hazard area rather than affect the land as a 

whole? 

 

MR PIZZEY:   In the hazard area, sir. 

 5 

SJH:   And just for the record, we have had it from Ms Carter at the back, you 

can confirm on behalf of the Council that the small portion on 

Mr Toothill’s property has been removed and presumably now follows 

the cadastral boundary? 

 10 

MR PIZZEY:   That is the recommendation in Mr Wright’s evidence, sir. 

 

SJH:   Well, it is subject to us finally approving it but it has been done from the 

Council’s perspective? 

 15 

MR PIZZEY:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you. 

 

MR TOOTHILL:   That is a good outcome, thank you. 20 

 

SJH:   I think you can probably go home happy today. 

 

MR TOOTHILL:   Yes, thank you very much. 

 25 

<MICHAEL TOOTHILL WITHDREW [11.28 am] 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Clinton, would you like to come forward and I think 

you have a number of photographs you want brought up on the screen. 

 30 

<KATHLEEN CLINTON [11.29 am] 

 

MS CLINTON:   Yes, shall I start?  First, actually it is similar to Mr Holyoake 

with that on the property, because I have got 17 acres which goes up 

the Port Hills behind the house so it is quite extensive.  And Geotech 35 

are undertaking some rock remediation work for Avoca Valley 

residents and there is a submission to Council at the moment for this 

work.   

 

 So my question is once the work is done they say it will disperse the 40 

rock threat and whether or not that would change the hazard area 

zoning on that section of the land, because by rights I guess it should 

because basically it is going to take the threat of the rock fall way from 

the properties below, so it will take the threat away from where it is as 

well. 45 
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SJH:   Well, can you just explain to us what the remediation work planned is? 

 

  [11.30 am] 

 

MS CLINTON:   Well, I have a message statement here by Geotech but it is 5 

four pages long so it may be better that a copy of that comes through, it 

is quite extensive, but when the Geotech woman came to see me she 

said at the end of it the outcome is meant to be basically that there is no 

danger of rock fall in that area and that you could practically put a 

house there if you wanted to.  She did not say it like that, but that was 10 

the implication. 

 

SJH:   What Geotech woman are you talking about? 

 

MS CLINTON:   Jasmine, I do not know how to pronounce her last name. 15 

 

SJH:   From the Council? 

 

MS CLINTON:   From Geotech, that is the name of the company. 

 20 

SJH:   So that is a company you have instructed to do this? 

 

MS CLINTON:   They have been instructed by the Avoca Valley residents, 

Theo Starkey (ph 0.59), and there are also people -  it is to do with the 

red zoning funding that they get to remediate rock fall. 25 

 

SJH:   Okay, if you would produce that as an exhibit, I think we are up to 

number 17. 

 

EXHIBIT #17 – METHOD STATEMENT FROM GEOTECH 30 

PRESENTED BY MS K CLINTON 

 

MS CLINTON:   I tried to find out what the definition between Area 1 and area 

2 Rock Fall hazard is.  There must be a definition that they put on the 

Rock Fall 2 area as opposed to the 1 Area, but the only thing I could 35 

find was something on the Tonkin Co website saying Rock Fall 2 is 

rocks that have already impacted properties, structures, land and other 

assets.   

 

 So presuming rocks that have actually come down and hit something, 40 

basically the Rock Fall 2 area on the property there are no rocks that 

have impacted anything, and the photos, it will probably be hard to find 

which ones I am talking about, but basically I have a map showing the 

rocks that have come down onto the property - I cannot actually 

remember where this map came from, but there is one that has been 45 

printed out by the Council as well showing the dots where there are 



 Page 879 

  

Ch5: Natural Hazards (Part) 13.03.15 

boulders or rocks on peoples properties.  And the two that are closest to 

the house were actually always there, they did not come down in the 

earthquake and I went to have a look at them to see how they managed 

to map them, which I should have probably done three years ago, but I 

just trusted what people were doing were correct.   5 

 

 There is one behind the house that is shown in the stream and it has got 

the green paint on it basically in relation to coming down in the 

earthquake, but it was always there.  These rocks in the paddock were 

washed into the paddock with really heavy, heavy rainfall after the 10 

earthquake.  They were actually already at the base of the hill, they did 

not come down in the earthquake, they were already there and the rain 

has just washed them in.  But they have been stated as being boulders 

in the paddock - or rocks - because there is a mark there.  

 15 

 These ones by the house are just to show, because they were never 

marked, because they basically just rolled forward, so it is just showing 

the same example that they never looked at those ones yet they have 

pin pointed other ones that did exactly the same thing.  So I guess what 

I am saying with the Rock Fall 2 area, there are no rocks - - -  20 

 

SJH:   Just explain what these earlier photographs are, if you just go back one, 

please. 

 

MS CLINTON:   That gulley is where they are going to do the rock 25 

remediation work, that is the stream that runs behind the house, that is 

just showing that it actually captures all the boulders or rocks. 

 

SJH:   If you go back to the bluff that we saw before. 

 30 

MS CLINTON:   That is where the rock remediation work is going to take 

place. 

 

SJH:   But that is not part of the stream bed, is it?   

 35 

MS CLINTON:   No, I probably should not have put that in.  I just wondered 

whether you would want to see the extent of it. 

 

SJH:   And the one of the fence line with rocks all along one side, what do 

those rocks represent? 40 

 

  [11.35 am] 

 

MS CLINTON:   That is near the house but these are actually ones that are like 

clay lumps, basically there is a slope behind there and this is taken 45 

immediately after the earthquake just to show that there really are no 
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big boulders that came down and it is basically just bits of clay that 

have come down from the hill. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 5 

MS HURIA:   Excuse me, there are obviously ones in the foreground that look 

like clay, are they also bits of clay right against the fence? 

 

MS CLINTON:   Some of them that are rocks there were always there, to be 

honest, I should have got a photo, I was trying to look for photos of 10 

pre-earthquake because basically the entire property has always had 

rocks on it, I mean it is just a matter of which ones have moved and 

which ones have not, but all I can do is swear an oath to say - because I 

actually saw what was happening during the earthquake, I actually 

visibly watched what was coming down off the slope, and it was just 15 

dust and clay, with no rock fall.  There are other pictures at the top of 

the slope where there is a net that has already been put up by Geotech. 

 

SJH:   So you say that because of this remediation you should have this 

removed from your property? 20 

 

MS CLINTON:   Not the whole, it will not remove every rock face, the 

remediation will only remove the one corner. 

 

SJH:   Around the house? 25 

 

MS CLINTON:   No, this is a corner that is next to Montgomery Spur, it is that 

corner there that the extensive work is being done.  My argument with 

around the house is that the line between the Rock Fall 1 and Rock Fall 

2 is in the wrong place because I have looked to see what rocks came 30 

down in the earthquake and if you move the line back it needs to 

literally move back towards the corner of where the land bends around 

almost just below that corner.  Because everything from there down, 

there was no rock fall, there was no danger, because of the way the land 

goes and the stream runs behind, and the rocks that are marked on the 35 

map here are incorrectly marked, and I did email Ian Wright about it, 

and I went to CERA about it, but CERA pointed me back to the 

Council, so I emailed Ian Wright, but it would probably take somebody 

coming out to see really, which I possibly should have done earlier but 

I have had other things. 40 

 

 So that is one point basically that I am making, and yes, I would still 

like a definition of what Rock Fall 2 really means, and I think the issue 

with the liquefaction line might have been brought up already, because 

there is a liquefaction line running along the base of the hill which I 45 

find quite hard to believe because the hill and the land slopes right 
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down to the road, the slope does not stop right back where that 

liquefaction line is, there is no evidence of liquefaction, so I have not 

had an actual Geotech report done to drill down to see if there is any 

there but I personally think that line is in the wrong place as well.   

 5 

 There are more rocks than liquefaction underneath the ground, it is just 

very rocky land.  I do not know if I need to explain any more.  There 

are some pictures there that I have not explained, that is all in the 

paddock but the rocks in the ground were always there, but there are 

some other pictures within the stream.  That is a net that is up above the 10 

house so, there is already some rock fall remediation in place. 

 

  [11.40 am] 

 

SJH:   Is that just ordinary fencing or is that proper mesh? 15 

 

MS CLINTON:   It was put up directly after the earthquake, there were 

helicopters, there were masses of Geotech people working.  To be 

honest I do not know quite who they worked for but they put that up.  

So that is another reason why I think the line should be moved up a bit 20 

because that area protects that area to a point, but also you can see the 

way the land slopes down to the stream and modelling on the computer 

would show the way the rock fall has to go down to the stream, and 

there is an area further forward from this photo where no rocks could 

fall there because there is nothing above it except trees, and any rock 25 

fall would have to go there.   

 

 Again, it is very hard to explain with photos, someone would probably 

benefit to actually see it but if there is a possibility that they would 

consider moving the line back, I presume they would come and have a 30 

look.  Up that area where there are trees and you go down to the 

stream, that has all been made Rock Fall 1 Area but the rocks, they 

would not go that way because of the way the land is, it is fairly easy to 

see, plus the fact that there is a net there to minimise the possibility of 

any.  But that is not fool proof, I know that, but the fact that the lay of 35 

the land heads that way, it is more fool proof than the net and the way 

the stream catches it.  That and the one in the stream that came down 

during the earthquake they have marked wrong.   

 

 There is one that came down during the earthquake into the stream that 40 

I heard but it is actually probably about 100 metres back from the 

house, it is much further up and when you see it you can see that it has 

come down because you can still see the trail that it glazed coming 

down, because it was a boulder so it dragged all the vegetation out in 

its way, so it was very easy to see when you look in the stream that that 45 
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is the one that came down, and the one that they have put as coming 

down could not have got to where it has got in the earthquake. 

 

 That one they said came down, but that falling tree has always been 

there, it would have been impossible for it to get there and I know it did 5 

not anyway because I know that that was always there.  But they have 

marked it on the map so it is looking like there is more danger closer to 

the house, if that makes sense.  Hopefully it makes sense. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Anything else? 10 

 

MS CLINTON:   Hopefully what I have said is clear, I am not very good at - - - 

 

SJH:   No, we are understanding what you are understanding. 

 15 

MS CLINTON:   So can I have an answer or have someone email to let me 

know how they came about modelling the Rock Fall 2 area? 

 

SJH:   Well the evidence is being given on that in the transcripts and the 

evidence is all on our website. 20 

 

MS CLINTON:   Yes, well there is a lot to wade through. 

 

SJH:   I understand, but that is the same for everybody though.  I may be wrong 

about it but we do not appear to have any Council response to this. 25 

 

MS CLINTON:   Yes, I would just like to know for my own self-satisfaction, I 

suppose. 

 

SJH:   I understand that, that is what I am trying to clarify.  I may have missed 30 

it but we do not appear to have had a response to the submission in the 

Council? 

 

MR PIZZEY:   No, sir, there is nothing expressed in the evidence.  There is 

going to be in the table of accepted and rejected submissions which has 35 

not yet been finalised.  

 

SJH:   All right, thank you, but it would have been rather better if it had been 

addressed in evidence. 

 40 

MR PIZZEY:   Understood, sir. 

 

SJH:   Anything else, Ms Clinton? 
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MS CLINTON:   Like I say I have maps that show measurements and things to 

do with distances and if they are needed to prove what I am saying 

about the distance of the rock from the house and things. 

 

SJH:   Well if you have that, we will certainly accept it.  I will just see if the 5 

Panel have any questions?  Dr Mitchell? 

 

  [11.45 am] 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Just one question, thank you, sir.  Good morning, 10 

Ms Clinton.  Can I just understand, your house is on the relatively flat 

land at the bottom of the hill pretty close to the road and then there is 

the hill behind.  What is it that you anticipate doing in the future with 

the balance of your land on the hill above the house, that is not a 

development site from your point of view, it is just simply the area out 15 

the back of your property, is that correct? 

 

MS CLINTON:   To be honest, I do not know exactly because I am not sure 

what the best thing to do yet with the land is because I have to deal 

with the whole lot of Rock Fall Hazard 1 area.  I want to keep the land, 20 

obviously, and I want to make it as safe as possible.  At the moment the 

plan I have which I do not know whether it is feasible from a money 

perspective, because I have no funding because it is not red zoned, it 

has just been green zoned for the entire area, I am hoping when the 

Geotech people come in to fix the area close to Montgomery Spur that 25 

they will maybe add to the netting that is already above the house, I 

would like to see that extended or reinforced a bit more, and to me that 

is possibly the best way forward is to add to that, plant more trees and 

do the best I can. 

 30 

DR MITCHELL:   That is helpful, thank you, Ms Clinton. 

 

MS CLINTON:   Thank you. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Ms Clinton, just a couple of questions.   35 

 

MS CLINTON:   Sure. 

 

MS DAWSON:   As far as you know in terms of the liquefaction line on your 

property and where the line between the Rock Hazard 1 and Rock 40 

Hazard 2 lines are, you have not had anyone from the Council come out 

to your property to specifically look at where - - - 

 

MS CLINTON:   No, I found out too late that that was an opportunity and I 

apologise because I was away for a long time over Christmas. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Thank you, that is all I wanted to know. 

 

MS CLINTON:   If I had known, I would have asked, but I left it too late. 

 

MS DAWSON:   That is all right.  And my second question, you talk about the 5 

rock hazard protection scheme works that are going on that affect the 

corner of your property.  Is that a scheme that the Council is looking at 

putting in to protect properties more around the Avoca Valley area?  Is 

it a group of properties that that scheme would propose?   

 10 

MS CLINTON:   Basically there is a group of houses on the corner that are 

made all red, they wanted to stay there so they have funding and they 

are using it to remediate the rocks. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, we have heard evidence about those schemes where red 15 

zoned people want to stay so they can use that money to look at putting 

in some work so that, yes, I just wanted to confirm that it was that sort 

of scheme.  

 

MS CLINTON:   It is.   20 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MS CLINTON:   And I only know of the one that is affecting me because that 

is the only one that I had to give consent to. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   In addition to those properties it also will help protect part of 

your property as well. 

 

MS CLINTON:   It will, that is a benefit coming from another angle which is 30 

great, and when they go up there to actually do the remediation, they 

will have to improve the access through as well which will help me sort 

out the whole property as well. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you, very much. 35 

 

MS CLINTON:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Clinton, just one matter, not necessarily a 

question for you.  I sympathise with your position as a person trying to 40 

understand quite a lot of complex stuff in regard to rock fall hazard 

management mapping and the basis for it.  The Chairman mentioned to 

you the evidence that is on our website and it may well be Mr Pizzey 

who has got his evidence files here who can identify for you a 

particular statement that might be helpful.   45 
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 One that I found helpful to read to get an overview is Ms Helen 

Beaumont’s statement, and she explains the rock fall hazard mapping 

rationale in her evidence about page 10 to 12, so it is a relatively short 

explanation of pretty complex stuff, modelling and assumptions that are 

related to it. 5 

 

MS CLINTON:   I guess it uses ground truthing as well as modelling? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It refers to all of the things the Council did to derive its 

approach so it may be helpful to read that. 10 

 

MS CLINTON:   It would help to see that, yes. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 15 

  [11.50 am] 

 

MS CLINTON:   Thank you. 

 

<MS CLINTON WITHDREW [11.50 am] 20 

 

SJH: Mr Stevens.  You may be excused to make that statement available, 

Mr Pizzey, or perhaps the Secretariat could do – yes, thank you. 

 

<MR STEVENS [11.50 am] 25 

 

MR STEVENS:   Your Honour, members of the Panel, thank you for your 

time.   

 

 The main point that I have come today is that our property, 128 30 

hectares, at the head of Cass Bay is all designated rural.  There are rock 

fall hazards on it, fortunately our house was positioned in a clear area.  

The zoning we felt was really quite strict, it removed areas that we had 

previously planned and including an area we had resource consent for 

to put sheds, farm sheds on.  There is no intention of subdivision, in 35 

fact, we bought the property to keep a green space, it is in a family 

trust, myself, my wife, come from a farming background, actually, 

agricultural background, engineering, I have a PhD, my wife has a 

Masters, so we have some background in what we say. 

 40 

 We asked for a site visit, as a result I commend (1) Ms Janice Wright 

for getting on to it, (2) Mark Yetton for coming.  The report that he 

gave took back the line 100 metres or so which, which if the Council 

accepts the zoning which we almost implore them to do, it means that 

we could continue to operate the property with replacing sheds. 45 
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 The shed site out on the flat area which is now Zone 1 or 2, 

unfortunately broke down, so we do need more shed space. 

 

 I would like to actually endorse professionally, I would like to endorse 

the comments and points raised by Mr Holyoake and mentioned 5 

previously on if you have remediation will that allow the land to be 

rezoned, because there are definite sites, historic rock sitting there, they 

could be split and moved. 

 

 A lot of the rocks that were marked, yes they did not move, others yes, 10 

they did jump, three tonne rocks jumped 300 millimetres, we knew that 

because other small rocks went underneath.   

 

 Insofar as a management tool on a rural property it was not of a great 

benefit relative to the areas that were excluded.  That kind of zoning 15 

does give something to put in the public domain with respect of people 

coming on the property, some would say trespassing because they are 

not invited, there is a lot of traffic on the property that bounds on to 

Council reserve. 

 20 

 Our first action has been, we have retired together with the Council, 28 

hectares of land where native bush was, that is retired from grazing.  

We gave a licence, five year licence, for a track to go across it in a safe 

site, and the rest of the tracks on the property were put outside the 

fence. 25 

 

 But I would note myself, that the risks of the land, even that the 

existing track walks through, is actually far greater than the site that we 

had I mind to put a hayshed on which is only visited a small number of 

times in a year. 30 

 

 That is our property, yes, and you can see those wobbles on the right.  

The need for ground truthing was that you had a ridge running down 

between that and – across to the left there, a fence line running down 

there, the rocks do not come away, they go the other way, it really does 35 

emphasise the need for ground truthing which should not be at the 

expense of the owner. 

 

 Professionally, if you look – hearing this other poor lady 

(INDISTINCT 4.7) you look at the track, I mean, left to right across 40 

there (INDISTINCT 4.50).   

 

 Rocks did not come down any of that face, it had been zoned, I accept 

that there is a roofline marked, Dr Yetton explained the policy, if you 

have (INDISTINCT 5.06) rock could come down there through the 45 

property.  But I do think there are working issues for landowners, 
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substantial working issues and hidden expenses going forward that in a 

rural setting, perhaps speaking for locally, maybe a little bit over the 

top. 

 

  [11.55 am] 5 

 

 A distinction between farm buildings and farm tracks and engineering 

reports.  

 

 For a farm track, like a farm track you muster three times a year, I 10 

mean, you are more at risk driving over Porters Pass or down 

(INDISTINCT 0.43) or a viaduct.  

 

 Thank you for your time and if anyone wishes to discuss further or 

visit, perhaps it is something of the small case study of the need for 15 

ground truthing and who undertakes the expense, we would be 

approachable, but thank you very much for your time. 

 

 Thank you Janice for getting on to it, and Dr Yetton, I do not see, I 

thank him for his report which we really would like to see accepted and 20 

in a way that we can use it when we apply for relocating buildings, that 

it is considered a geotech report. 

 

 Thank you, your Honour, thank you, Panel. 

 25 

SJH: Mr Pizzey, can you just confirm that the Council accepts the redrawn 

line from Dr Yetton? 

 

MR PIZZEY:   It does, sir. 

 30 

SJH: Thank you. 

 

MR STEVENS:   Thank you, sir.   

 

SJH: Just a minute, in case there is any questions.  Dr Mitchell. 35 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Dr Stevens, just a quick question, I just want to be clear that 

the recommendation that Dr Yetton has made, does that resolve the 

concerns raised in your submission, leaving aside your general 

comment about ground truthing in the wider area - - - 40 

 

MR STEVENS:   Yes. 

 

SJH: - - - but insofar as it effects your property at 90 Governors Bay Road, 

does Mr Yetton’s redrawn map address your concerns? 45 
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MR STEVENS:   It gives us a working solution.  When you look up on the 

corner where we park most of the vehicles before we go to the house 

where we would have put some shelter for vehicles at the shed, I can 

see his reason for putting it in the zone that he did, but equally the 

rocks that are at risk are rocks that could, in the future, be remediated 5 

so if that provision is within the Act, yes, we must say it is a solution. 

 

 The line, the mark of the line down the bottom, they have still got this, 

it was agreed that I submit as a 10 metre – there is an area there that 

should not be in it and everyone agrees with it. 10 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Just so that I understand that clearly.  In terms of the here 

and now, you are happy with the line being moved, but you would like 

it to be able to be moved again in the light of future circumstances 

should rocks be removed or mitigation measures put in place? 15 

 

MR STEVENS:   Yes, absolutely, because it has been a constructive working 

relationship, thank you. 

 

SJH: All right, thank you, that is helpful, thank you, sir.  Ms Dawson? 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, thank you very much. 

 

SJH: Ms Huria? 

 25 

MS HURIA:   No thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Dr Stevens, just one question, just thinking about this in 

your professional capacity and in terms of your comment where you 

agreed with Mr Holyoake, on the matter of ground truthing, looking at 30 

this Plan, do you think the matter of ground truthing is significant 

enough to be given express reference in the Plan as something that 

should be recognised in terms of hazards, the need for it?  

 

MR STEVENS:   Absolutely, I did have a note down here that I strongly 35 

endorsed it, so professionally yes, I strongly endorse it, and there are 

rocks on the photographs that are being used that were even moved 

when the woolshed site was originally excavated.  So yes, the provision 

for ground truthing and revision or the mobility of the line relative to a 

report like this, I think should be an essential part of going forward. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR STEVENS:   Thank you. 

45 



 Page 889 

  

Ch5: Natural Hazards (Part) 13.03.15 

<MR STEVENS WITHDREW [11.59 am] 

 

SJH: Thank you.  Mr Flynn.   

 

  [12.00 pm] 5 

 

SJH:   No, no, do it through here please.  Thank you. 

 

<GREG FLYNN [12.00 pm] 

 10 

MR FLYNN:   Do you mind if my Geotech person reads it?  I have not got my 

glasses and I am struggling to read a couple of things on it.   

 

SJH:   That is fine, Mr Flynn.  This a statement in support of your submission, 

is it not? 15 

 

MR FLYNN:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   Just sit beside him.  If you could identify your name. 

 20 

MR JUSTICE:   Good afternoon, Mr Chairman, my name is Richard Justice, I 

am the engineering geologist acting for Mr Flynn’s property.   

 

SJH:   If you could read Mr Flynn’s submission and the circumstances.    

 25 

MR JUSTICE:   Certainly, it would be a pleasure.  On behalf of Greg Flynn, 

Greg is the property owner at 160 Bridle Path Road in Ferrymead.  As 

a result of rock fall close to his property during the 2011 Canterbury 

earthquake sequence, his property was red zoned due to the GNS study 

wide risk modelling.  Subsequent to his property being red zoned, he 30 

employed my firm, Geoscience Consulting to undertake a site specific 

risk assessment for the location of the house at his property.   

 

 That house, Mr Chairman, has now been demolished due to structural 

reasons.  Geoscience is on Christchurch City Council’s list as an 35 

approved provider of geotechnical services for rock fall protection 

works.  The results of Geoscience’s risk assessment report indicate an 

annualised individual lines risk, an AIFR, due to rock fall of 9 times 10-

5 at 2012, earthquake probabilities reducing to 5 times 10-5 at 2016.   

 40 

 The level of risk calculated by Geoscience for the current location of 

the house was at about the level of risk tolerability of 1 times 10-4 in 

2012 but this will be reduced by half an order of magnitude by 2016.  

In light of a district plan, Mr Flynn has provided a copy of 

Geoscience’s report to Christchurch City Council with the intent that 45 
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his property was removed from the proposed Rock Fall Management 

Zone 2.   

 

 Mr Flynn understands from Mr Ian Wright’s statement of evidence 

from Christchurch City Council that the Council have accepted the 5 

report prepared by Geoscience and as a result the proposed rock fall 

hazard management zone deviates above the location of his house 

platform.  However, Mr Flynn understands that the proposed hazard 

management zone has not been removed entirely from his property.  

Whilst this may be disappointing to Mr Flynn, he can understand the 10 

Council’s position as the AIFR at the top of his property may be 

somewhat higher and there is no site specific risk assessment for this 

area.   

 

 Mr Flynn, therefore, accepted in principle the proposed rock fall 15 

management zone boundaries for his property.  Mr Flynn’s main 

concern is that in the future he may wish to subdivide at the top of his 

property and should he choose to do that he will get at that stage further 

geotechnical advise as to the rock fall risk.  If the outcome of this risk 

assessment is that the risks are tolerable then there would be no need 20 

for any of his property to remain within the rock fall management zone.   

 

 It is unclear to Mr Flynn that there is a process in place which allows 

for altering the boundaries of the proposed management zones other 

than applying for a plan change which may be publically notified and 25 

therefore time consuming and expensive.  As the proposed rock fall 

management zones are based on area wide assessment there are likely 

to be many instances where management zones could be altered on the 

basis of site specific risk assessment.   

 30 

 Mr Flynn, therefore, considers that a mechanism should be 

incorporated into the Proposed District Plan that allows for changes to 

be simply made to the management zone boundaries on the basis of site 

specific risk assessment.   

 35 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Justice, and I think that you have been following the 

transcript, Mr Flynn, although we reached no final decision yet then 

what you seek in 14 is something that is of great interest to the Panel if 

we were able to provide it.  Mr Pizzey, just for the record, can you 

confirm you would accept Mr Wright’s evidence? 40 

 

MR PIZZEY:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.   Did you have a query? 

 45 

MR PIZZEY:   No. 
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SJH:   Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No, I do not have any questions, thank you, sir, that is very 

clear. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, thank you very much, that is very clear. 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No thank you, Mr Chairman. 

 

SJH:   Thank you very much.  Thank you, Mr Justice. 

 

<GREG FLYNN WITHDREW [12.05 pm] 15 

 

SJH:   Mr Bundy?  And I think Mr Thomson, you are here to assist as well.  If 

you would just come forward and sit by the microphone, Mr Bundy. 

 

<DAVID BUNDY [12.05 pm] 20 

 

MR BUNDY:   Thank you, Sir John, members of the Panel.  To introduce our 

submission, our land is a little bit different from other blocks of land 

that have been talked about on the Port Hills in that it is mainly zoned 

residential apart from a skyline restriction up on the top. There is 25 

provision there for about four to five sections.  We have owned this 

land since 1929, my sister and I are the current owners having bought it 

from our family, and we spent about 30 years paying for it, and it is 

intended as some retirement capital for us.   

 30 

 We cannot accept the rock fall hazard that has been asserted upon this 

land because there simply, and with very minor exceptions, are not any 

rocks up there.  The photographs that I have and I would like to pass on 

to the Panel will illustrate this quite clearly.  The land is not under the 

Port Hills, it is a spur running about 90 degrees from the Port Hills and 35 

terminating on the same back door as Quail Island.  We are quite 

perplexed about this rock fall hazard that has been written about by 

Dr Yetton because when you go up there with the minor exceptions, 

there simply are not any rocks.  It is a solid rock hill and where the rock 

does stick it out it is not fractured it is just solid rock, and overlaying 40 

that is the lowest.   

 

 One interesting point is that in the 1980s the liquid petroleum gas line 

was put through our land and it had some geological study at that point 

and it was quite satisfactory to put the liquid petroleum gas line through 45 

it.  We are going to be in a difficult position if the Council does 
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confirm this overlay because it is going to affect us dramatically 

financially, possibly to the tune of about one million odd, and we do 

not want to be burdened with this overlay if there is no evidence to 

substantiate it.  How can I get these photos up to the Panel, please? 

 5 

SJH:   Would you leave the photo up?  Thank you.  Do you want to take us 

through the photographs, Mr Bundy? 

 

MR BUNDY:   Yes.  The photographs are taken on the ridge of the land where 

it intersects with the Rapaki side of the slope and if you look at the 10 

photos there you can see that the outcrops are solid rock and with 

minor exceptions there are very, very few loose rocks.  What is there 

would not amount to one truck load. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Excuse me, Mr Bundy, I think the photos we have got, you 15 

have given us four lots or five lots of photo 1, photo 2, and photo 3.  I 

have got all of the photos, so if you could just wait a second while we 

get one of each then it will make your explanation more clear. 

 

SJH:   I am sorry, photo one, this one, which is your land? 20 

 

MR BUNDY:   We are on the left hand side of the fence. 

 

SJH:   This area here? 

 25 

MR BUNDY:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   Which is exposed rock? 

 

  [12.10 pm] 30 

 

MR BUNDY:   Yes, that area that is illustrated in the photos is directly above 

the area that is marked out on the Plan as being subject to rock fall. 

 

SJH:   How many photographs are there in total? 35 

 

MR BUNDY:   Four photographs. 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you. 

 40 

MR BUNDY:   May I carry on for a little? 

 

SJH:   Well now we have sorted out the photos, it would have been useful if 

they had been handed to us in a sorted out form, Mr Bundy. 

 45 

MR BUNDY:   I am sorry. 
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SJH:   Carry on. 

 

MR BUNDY:   Well I really wanted to add in that this block of land is the only 

residential block of land left on the Lyttelton side of the harbour.  There 5 

is no other residential land available until we get down to Governors 

Bay.  It has been zoned residential for now about 40 years.  There has 

not been any event through the various tempests we have had, the 

Wahine storm, there has not been slips or any kind of adverse event.  

There was no rock fall during the earthquake and really we have come 10 

along today to speak for ourselves because we have quite a range of 

professional occupations amongst us. 

 

 We are all retired now and my wife and I have professional 

qualifications in most areas of property.  My brother in law has 15 

professional qualifications in engineering, and we also have seen 

Lyttelton people who have been very stressed and financially 

disadvantaged by getting ready for the hearing, and by employing an 

expert, and we thought that we did not want to go down that path and 

with the type of backgrounds we have we can speak quite authoratively 20 

on that block of land. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Dr Mitchell. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No, I think the submissions are clear, thank you, sir.  No 25 

questions. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, thank you for the photos and thank you for your 30 

explanation. 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria, Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just a couple thanks.  Mr Bundy you have mentioned Dr 35 

Yetton looking at your property and I just wanted to get some 

clarification from you if I could.  He has a statement in his evidence 

which refers to inspection of your property and then he has got a couple 

of photographs which he says contains representative photographs of 

the site, or he describes them as representative and they are in his 40 

appendix 1A and 1B.  Looking at 1A for a start I am wondering if you 

could comment on whether or not that is on your property? 

 

MR BUNDY:   Oh, it looks like it, yes it does look like it. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 
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MR BUNDY:   It is right to the very south end of the property. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The very south end of the property? 

 5 

MR BUNDY:   Yes, so it is not above the area that is outlined in the Plan as 

being subject to rock fall. 

 

  [12.15 pm] 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I see.  Thank you and his 1B, is that on your property? 

 

MR BUNDY:   Yes, it is.  That is right at the north western end of the property.  

That is a small group of rocks that was secured in place by Liquigas 

when the LPG pipeline went through, and as you see those rocks there 15 

they would not roll down on our land but they would head towards 

Rapaki if they got loose. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and you can see the stays, it is quite hard to see on 

the photograph there, but I can see them quite clearly. 20 

 

MR BUNDY:   Yes, there are a number of cables that go around the rocks and 

Liquigas did that at the time of putting the pipeline through.  They had 

heavy machinery up there and did not want to disturb rocks for obvious 

reasons. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much. 

 

MR BUNDY:   May we have Mr Thomson speak please? 

 30 

SJH:   Yes, by all means.  Yes, Mr Thomson. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Thank you, Mr Chairman.  I cannot really add very much 

more than David Bundy has to this.  I live with David’s wife in the 

Glenorchy area so I am very familiar with the block of land we are 35 

talking about though and I would certainly endorse everything he said. 

 

 I am just checking about some of the comments that Dr Yetton has 

made in relation to what he says is a potential rock fall source.  The 

only possible rocks that could move are the ones that the second 40 

photograph show because it is essentially massive rock otherwise it, as 

David Bundy has indicated. 

 

 My understanding is that what we are trying to do here is provide a 

rock fall management hazard area based on potential boulder roll and 45 

loose rock type risk and as we have pointed out this is essentially a spur 



 Page 895 

  

Ch5: Natural Hazards (Part) 13.03.15 

off the main mountain range and therefore there is nothing above it that 

can allow for rocks to fall down on the property.  The only possible 

loose material would be essentially what was on that second 

photograph which is identified as rolling towards Rapaki rather than 

down on the property.  All I can effectively do is endorse what Mr 5 

Bundy says. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Thomson.  Have you got any questions for Mr Thomson. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No, thank you sir. 10 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MR DAWSON:  No thank you, Mr Thomson, thank you. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you very much. 

 

MR THOMSON:   Thank you. 20 

 

MR BUNDY:    Sir John, may I add in one little comment that I have neglected 

to mention? 

 

SJH:   Yes. 25 

 

MR BUNDY:   We think that the rock fall that has been predicted for this 

property is not as it is written up and if there are any problems at all 

regarding the rocks it is so minor that it should be dealt with at a time 

of a subdivision application. 30 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Bundy, anything else? 

 

MR BUNDY:   No, thank you. 

 35 

SJH:   Thank you both very much. 

 

MR BUNDY:   Thank you. 

 

<DAVID BUNDY WITHDREW [12.18 pm] 40 

 

SJH:   Mr Manley?   
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<DAVID MANLEY [12.19 pm] 

 

Good afternoon, Mr Manley.  I understand you wish to make a statement in 

support of your submission? 

 5 

MR MANLEY:   Yes, good morning, my submission is a fairly brief one, fairly 

straightforward, basically it relates to chapter 5, 5.10.1 activity status 

for Port Hills and Banks Peninsula slope instability management areas.  

In my view the available evidence shows that it is not logical or 

reasonable to characterise my property as land and a house as a Rock 10 

Fall Hazard Management Area 2.   

 

 I oppose the categorisation.  I am seeking the removal of Area 2 

category for my property land at 4 Hay’s Rise, Governors Bay.  In 

support of this the planning map extract, attachment 1, will show the 15 

Area 2 section is an extremely small roadside strip of land and a deep 

protective wide stream bed separates this from the more elevated 

property land site of 4 Hay’s Rise. 

 

  [12.20 pm] 20 

 

 The attachments 2 and 3 show photographs of the roadside strip of land 

and the deep wide streambed respectively.  This area is on the edge of 

and below the main land property site at 4 Hay’s Rise.  It is a marginal 

strip of land on the very edge and below the main property land side of 25 

4 Hay’s Rise.  It is not an area of land that could or would ever be 

allowed to be developed or built on at present anyhow. 

 

 I oppose the Area 2 categorisation of my entire property land at 

4 Hay’s Rise, Governors Bay.  I would please request for this Area 2 30 

category to be removed from the land property site at 4 Hay’s Rise and 

basically I am suggesting that if somebody comes and looks at the 

property site I am certain they cannot disagree, if you actually see the 

site first hand. 

 35 

 The Area 2 categorisation is not supported by the evidence/facts 

available and gives the property a status that is inappropriate and 

undeserved.  As already stated I am seeking the removal of the Area 2 

status from my entire property at 4 Hay’s Rise. 

 40 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Pizzey, could you just confirm that Mr Wright has in 

fact recommended that RF2 is to be removed from this site? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   It is page 21 of his primary statement. 

 45 

MR PIZZEY:   Confirmed, sir. 
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SJH:   And that is the Council’s position that they should be removed? 

 

MR PIZZEY:   Yes, sir. 

 5 

SJH:   Well, thank you, Mr Manley, it is obvious that the Council agree it is 

removed.  It will be up to our decision but of course that is based on 

their expert evidence before us which we will have to consider but I 

think you can probably leave reasonably relaxed today. 

 10 

MR MANLEY:   Thank you very much, thanks for your time. 

 

<DAVID MANLEY WITHDREW [12.22 pm] 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Now, we only have Mr Alexander and he is not available 15 

until 1 o’clock.  Okay, thank you, we will adjourn until then. 

 

ADJOURNED [12.22 pm] 
 

RESUMED [1.00 pm] 20 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you.  Yes, Mr Alexander. 

 

<MR D ALEXANDER [1.00 pm] 

 25 

MR ALEXANDER:   Hi.  I just wanted to object to a blanket land movement 

classification for the area of our property which is in 4 Quarry Road, St 

Andrews Hill.  The City Council is making good our section with the 

intention of us rebuilding on the site with issue of new building 

consents.  The whole area at St Andrews Hill up there, most of the 30 

properties have been taken by CERA or the Council or they are in the 

process of taking in the Council.  It is only a small area, but the Council 

do not want to take our spot at any rate, and we have a letter from the 

Council enclosed here saying exactly to that effect.   

 35 

 We have just signed the letter from the Council, signed by Angus 

Smith, the property consultancy manager, for an access agreement to 

our site.  They are going to make good our site, they are going to do 

some work up there, with the intentions of not purchasing it from us 

and us having a new building platform there.  The boundaries of our 40 

site may change, the shape may change slightly, but the Council do not 

want to purchase it from us. 

 

 So it is important for us, once the Council has removed or reduced the 

hazards, if any, we have a land platform for erection of a new home.  45 

At the moment the Council is going to remove that hazard so we can 
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rebuild there, and we want it left as Living Hills or whatever the new 

classification is going to be with the new District Plan, to be able to 

build a new site there.   

 

 If it was left as Land Movement Area, our land would be valueless to 5 

rebuild, we would not get a CCC building permit for a new home, and 

in any event any improvement or in fact the land itself would be 

valueless to anyone with that classification.   

 

 So that is basically why I am here and I have got a letter here from 10 

Mike Theelen, the chief planning officer at the Council, saying exactly 

like I am explaining to you, and - - -  

 

SJH:   Could you just give us a copy of that, thank you.   

 15 

EXHIBIT #18 – ACCESS AGREEMENT, CCC LETTER AND 

OBJECTION LETTER  

 

MR ALEXANDER:   Yes, I can give you a copy.  And we have got the access 

agreement here, the Council are starting work on our place.  This is 20 

dated yesterday, signed by Angus Smith, the property consultancy 

manager of the Council.  So they are going to make good this site.  I 

mean, it is basically rock on our site, but all the properties around it 

have been purchased by the Council or by CERA, and ours is virtually 

on the top of the hill so there are no rocks can come down on it as such, 25 

it is just a matter of we have got a good stable platform there and our 

house, well even the EQC payment, we got paid out $13,000 in land 

damage, so that is – most of the places have been paid out some 

hundreds of thousands of dollars around that area.  So we have been 

paid out $13,000. 30 

 

SJH:   When you say they have all been acquired by CCC and CERA, that is 

they were red zoned? 

MR ALEXANDER:   That is the other ones.  Well it is not actually classed as 

red zone, they have just classed it as – it is just a very small knob there 35 

they have classed as a Potential Land Movement Area. 

SJH:   Right. 

MR ALEXANDER:   But it was an old quarry there, and our site is where the 

quarryman’s house used to be.  Now that in actual fact it was Bishop 

Julius’ house after that and we have got the old photos.  There were 40 

only two properties up there and one was where our site is and that was 

where the quarryman’s house was, and that is where our house as built.   

 Each side of our place, or one side was where they were building the 

quarry and on the other side they used to put all the landfill, which was 

number 6 Quarry Road I think.  So all the landfill used to go over to45 
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 that area, the surplus spoil from the quarry.  So that house should 

probably never have been built on in the first place, but that had bad 

damage and some years ago after it was built the swimming pool fell 

off it at any rate, and it cost the council about $5 million I think at the 

time.  So that was a few years ago now.   5 

 

  [1.05 pm] 

 

 So basically that is the reason the Council are working on this site and 

they have got every intention of returning the site to us.  So, you know, 10 

we are looking as long as the Board can give us an appropriate zoning 

that we can rebuild again there, of course, in a land movement area it 

would be valueless. 

 

SJH:   Okay.  Marcus, could you get those letters forwards?  15 

 

MR ALEXANDER:   I can answer any questions you are going to make. 

 

SJH:   Yes. 

 20 

 Mr Pizzey, is this a matter we heard from any of the experts on? 

 

MR PIZZEY:   I believe not, sir, and I have not seen these letters. 

 

SJH:   You have not seen it? 25 

 

MR PIZZEY:   No. 

 

SJH:   Well, the question arises why was it not, it is dated 23 January, it should 

have been responded to, shouldn’t it, this submission, if you were 30 

planning to remediate the site? 

 

MR PIZZEY:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   Not you personally but it is again more of the same lack of 35 

communication. 

 

MR ALEXANDER:   Yes, that is exactly right, sir.  I brought it up actually 

with Dan Edgington (ph 2.10), who is the property manager there, and 

I said, you know, “Surely you should have done something with the 40 

Council there, Dan, you should have let the Hearing know all about this 

in advance”.  And he said, “Oh, they are independent of us, no, we do 

not do that”, and I mean I thought it was a bit strange actually. 

 

SJH:   They may say that but they have got an obligation to provide us with 45 

evidence. 
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MR ALEXANDER:   Well, I mean you are doing it for them so I mean 

obviously they should have been doing it.  You do not know unless I 

was here to tell you. 

 5 

SJH:   Exactly, exactly. 

 

MR ALEXANDER:   As they are going to considerable trouble and a lot of 

money, you know, probably a lot of money to do all this. 

 10 

SJH:   I will just give the other Panel members a moment to read this letter and 

then we will see if there are any questions. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   I do not have a question of Mr Alexander but I do have a 

question for Mr Pizzey and it is not clear to me, from reading the letter 15 

that was sent to Mr Alexander from Mr Theelen, as to what it is the 

Council is proposing to do, and I do not mean physically.  The 

language in the letter is capable, it seems to me at least, of different 

interpretations and I would be keen to understand precisely what the 

Council’s intention of gaining access to the land is in order to achieve 20 

what specific outcome. 

 

MR PIZZEY:   The only way the Council can provide that clarity, sir, is by 

adducing further evidence. 

 25 

DR MITCHELL:   Well, I would be guided by his Honour but I would have 

thought it is quite appropriate to do it by submission or just to provide 

that information to us because, from my point of view and my reading 

of it, that letter is not particularly clear as to what is intended. 

 30 

MR PIZZEY:   Sir, I cannot do that by submission, I have not seen the letter. 

 

SJH:   No, not now, supplementary evidence by Monday morning? 

 

MR PIZZEY:   Sir. 35 

 

SJH:   From Mr Theelen explaining exactly what is going on and if there is any 

Geotech or other matters that should have been before us, make sure 

they are before us. 

 40 

MR PIZZEY:   So the direction, sir, is - - - 

 

SJH:   You are here on your feet as CCC unfortunately so you are the one that 

is going to have to see that happens. 

 45 

MR PIZZEY:   So is that a direction - - - 
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SJH:   That is a direction, yes. 

 

MR PIZZEY:   - - - for supplementary evidence from Mr Theelen Monday 

morning, thank you. 5 

 

SJH:   It is exactly what is intended here and what will be the outcome. 

 

MR PIZZEY:   Yes, sir. 

 10 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MR ALEXANDER:   The access agreement, sir, might give you a bit more, if 

you read it, there is about 10 pages of stuff there. 

 15 

SJH:   Yes, but that is – I mean, you have been good enough to bring it along 

and make it available to us, this is evidence the Council should have 

put before us. 

 

MR ALEXANDER:   Well, I thought so.  I have told them this a couple of 20 

times but they said, “Well, you know, this other body does not know 

what we are doing.  We do not want to know what they are doing”, and 

I thought it was quite strange actually. 

 

  [1.10 pm] 25 

 

SJH:   Well that in itself may be revealing if it is correct but I hope it is not, 

which is another message to take back. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Just to be clear, Mr Alexander, you have not had a visit from 30 

any geologist or geotechnical person from the Council for the purposes 

of looking at where the boundaries of these mass movement areas are 

correct at the moment? 

 

MR ALEXANDER:   Yes, we have had the Council geotech there and, I have 35 

just forgotten his name now, he seems to think that our property will be 

all right, there is just one little corner of it, he said we might have to 

move your boundaries across because as I have told you, all the other 

houses, there are another two houses in this area on the top that is not 

and they have been purchased, one is being bulldozed, and the other is 40 

going shortly.  So the boundaries might need to be moved a little bit but 

the Council said they would take care of that anyway. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But there are, as I understand from what you are saying there 

will be some remediation works left on your property in order to make 45 

it tolerable? 
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MR ALEXANDER:   Yes, the Council are going to go up there and they are 

going to dig the top part, because it has got a clay layer on the top with 

rock underneath, and they are going to do a bit of - - - 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   And that work has not been done yet? 

 

MR ALEXANDER:   Yes, with their geotech person. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Right. 10 

 

SJH:   Well, Mr Pizzey, we would need the geotech information as well. 

 

MR ALEXANDER:   Well I do not think they have got it all at the moment, 

sir, because there is still a house on the site at the moment so what they 15 

want to do is - - - 

 

SJH:   They must have done some preliminary investigations. 

 

MR ALEXANDER:   They have done a lot of probing. 20 

 

SJH:   We need to know what the intention is for the property. 

 

MR ALEXANDER:   Yes.  Obviously if you read that 10 page thing the idea is 

that they do not want to be buying our site, they want to issue us with a 25 

building permit once they have taken away the hazard, if there is a 

hazard there.  But as I said it was the quarryman’s property so it has 

never actually been, and we have got this from the old photos, there is a 

book about whether a guy, Graham Mander (ph 2.06), one of the 

neighbours there, he is a yachting fella, he has got a lot of old books 30 

there and it is quite good because it has got the old original photos from 

many years ago, so you can see what is around, you can see the quarry 

being worked with the draft horses and everything else, so it was quite 

helpful. 

 35 

SJH:   Yes, thank you.  All right, we will have a look at that, but we need that 

information so we will get it and we will use that to inform our 

decision. 

 

MR ALEXANDER:   I do not need to return again as such, do I? 40 

 

SJH:   No.  But that needs to be copied to you as well, though.  If this evidence 

is presented we will give you notice of a time, I think the best thing is 

that the copy is made available by email, Mr Alexander.  If you have 

any comments or concerns or want to ask questions about it, you will 45 

need to let the Secretariat know. 
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MR ALEXANDER:   I am not on email, sir, so they will have to write to me. 

 

SJH:   To speed the process, could you pick it up from the Council on 

Monday? 5 

 

MR ALEXANDER:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   So if you would arrange after we retire, Mr Pizzey, where that can be 

picked up? 10 

 

MR PIZZEY:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   And you need to ring the Secretary and say if you want to ask questions 

around any of that information. 15 

 

MR ALEXANDER:   Well the lady here, sir, has rung me a couple of times to 

arrange this so maybe if she could ring me when it is ready, I do not 

know the lady. 

 20 

SJH:   We do not do the evidence.  This is for the Council, and I directed it as 

Monday morning so it will be available for you Monday morning.  You 

arrange where to go and where to pick it up with Mr Pizzey and you 

will have to ring us and say “I accept all that is said there and I have 

got nothing more to add” or “I would like to ask questions about this” 25 

and we will decide when we see it whether we need the witnesses to 

appear, because we may have questions for it.  Thank you. 

 

MR ALEXANDER:   Thank you, very much. 

 30 

SJH:   Any other Panel questions?    

 

<MR D ALEXANDER WITHDREW  [1.14 pm] 

 

SJH:   Thank you, very much.  We will adjourn to Monday morning, thank you 35 

very much. 

 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 1.14 PM UNTIL 

MONDAY, 16 MARCH 2015 


